

C. Gustav Dahlberg
BABBITT & DAHLBERG LLC
503 S. Front St. Ste. 200
Columbus, OH 43215
614.228.4200
gdahlberg@bdfamilylaw.com
www.bdfamilylaw.com

2020 AMENDMENTS TO OHIO CIVIL RULES AFFECTING FAMILY LAW
PRACTITIONERS

- Amendments effective July 1, 2020 – see attachment
- **RULE 4 – PROCESS AND SUMMONS**
 - Rule 4(D) now authorizes a plaintiff to request a waiver of service (pursuant to Rule 4.7).
 - Rule 4.7 provides that there is a **duty** to avoid unnecessary expenses of serving summons.
 - Litigants should offer a waiver of service when commencing all litigation **other than civil protection orders** (Rule 4.7(B)).
 - Should offer a “reasonable time” of at least 28 days after a request to return the waiver, before pursuing other methods of service.
 - If the defendant fails to waive service, the court can:
 - Charge expenses incurred for service to the defendant, and
 - Award attorney’s fees for any motion required to collect such service expenses!
 - Signed waiver extends the time for a defendant to answer a complaint to 60 days after the request for waiver is sent.
 - Waiver of service **does not waive any objections to jurisdiction or venue** (Rule 4.7(F)) – but best practice suggests that the waiver language should make that clear!
 - See form language in Rule 4.7

- **RULE 16 – PRETRIAL PROCEDURE**

- Court is now required to issue pretrial scheduling orders in all cases either 90 days after the defendant served, or 60 days after defendant has responded to complaint, whichever is **earlier** (Rule 16(B)(2)).
- Some Ohio courts have done this traditionally, but the Rule now seems to suggest all courts “shall” do so!

- **RULE 26 – DISCOVERY**

- Changes to the Rule are now more in line with federal rules of discovery!
- More expansive definition of the scope of discovery (Rule 26(B)(1)):
 - Things to consider regarding relevancy:
 - Proportional to the needs of the case
 - Importance of the issues at stake in the action
 - Amount in controversy
 - Parties’ relative access to relevant information
 - Parties’ resources
 - Importance of discovery in resolving the issues
 - Whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery outweighs its likely benefit
- Initial Disclosures (26(B)(3))
 - This is another MAJOR change from traditional practice – the Rule requires prospective disclosure of financial documents, etc., that may be used at trial, **in advance** of any discovery request.
 - A new affirmative duty to disclose all documents or computations of “damages” or claims (Rule 26(B)(3)(a)(iii)).
 - Disclosures must be made by the time of the first pretrial or case management conference unless court alters schedule – other parties joined later must make disclosures 30 days after service or joinder (Rule 26(B)(3)(c)).
 - Rule 26(F) requires parties to confer and discuss plan for discovery at least 21 days before a scheduling conference is to be held.
- Expert Reports (26(B)(7))

- Another major change – experts must be affirmatively disclosed, and all reports prepared by experts are **required** to be produced and exchanged.
 - Party with the burden of proof must prepare the initial expert report!
 - Business valuation?
 - Real estate appraisal?
 - Psychological exam?
 - Experts **may not testify** without having first written a report, and cannot testify or opine about matters not disclosed in his or her report. (Rule 26(B)(7)(c)).
 - No more “waiting to review” an expert’s report – suggests that there must be an affirmative written report, even if it’s a review and response to the proponent!
 - Expert reports **must** be exchanged **at least** 30 days in advance of trial!
 - Healthcare expert exceptions for medical records; and
 - Depositions of experts may only be conducted after exchange – party opposing an issue may choose not to hire an expert, and if so, can take the proponent expert’s deposition after exchange of that report
 - Opinions or reports of non-testifying experts hired for trial prep purposes **may now be discoverable** (Rule 26(B)(7)(h)) – if opposing party can show exceptional circumstances under which it is impractical for the party to obtain facts or opinions on the same subject by other means
- **ADDITIONAL PROPOSED RULE CHANGES**
 - All proposed for public comment until November 5, 2020 – NOT YET EFFECTIVE
 - **RULE 3 – VENUE**
 - Rule 3(C)(10) -- Proper venue for a case involving care, custody, control and support of a child (outside of divorce, annulment or legal separation actions) is the county of the child’s residence or where the child was last known to reside.
 - **RULE 4 – SERVICE**

- Small revision to rules regarding service by publication for child support actions
- **RULE 37 – SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE OF DISCOVERY**
 - If electronically stored information that should have been preserved is lost and cannot be restored, if the court finds that the party storing it acted with intent to deprive the other party of such information, the court can presume it was unfavorable to the party and either dismiss the action or enter a default judgment
- **RULE 75 – TEMPORARY ORDERS**
 - Clarifies that the court may issue temporary orders regarding an allocation of parental rights and responsibilities **after consideration of the parties’ parenting practices**, but that the court **shall not adopt a parent’s proposed shared parenting plan as a temporary order**. Also extends the deadline for submission of affidavits from the other party to 28 days. Explicitly provides that temporary orders create no presumption of law or fact as to court’s final judgment.

AMENDMENTS TO THE OHIO RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

The Supreme Court of Ohio filed the following proposed amendments with the General Assembly on March 12, 2020: The Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure (4, 4.1, 4.7, 16, 26, 53, and 73), the Ohio Rules of Criminal Procedure (44 and 46), the Ohio Rules of Evidence (601 and 902), Ohio Rules of Appellate Procedure (3, 19, and 21), and the Ohio Rules of Juvenile Procedure (4 and 42). The Court may file additional amendments to these proposed changes any time before May 1, 2020.

The history of these proposed amendments is as follows:

October 7, 2019	First publication for public comment
December 12, 2019	Second publication for public comment
January 15, 2020	First filing with General Assembly
March 12, 2020	Second filing with General Assembly
April 22, 2020	Third filing with General Assembly (Edits since March 12, 2020 filing in RED)

Key to Adopted Amendments:

1. Unaltered language appears in regular type. Example: text
2. Language that has been deleted appears in strikethrough. Example: ~~text~~
3. New language that has been added appears in underline. Example: text

1 **OHIO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

2
3
4 **RULE 4. Process: Summons**

5
6 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

7
8 **(D) Waiver of service of summons.** Service of summons may be waived in writing by
9 any person entitled thereto under Rule 4.2 who is at least eighteen years of age and not under
10 disability. For any civil action filed in a Court of Common Pleas, the plaintiff may request that the
11 defendant waive service of a summons pursuant to the provisions of Civ.R. 4.7.

12
13 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

14
15 **Proposed Staff Note (July 2020)**

16
17 Civ.R. 4(D) is amended to include a reference to the specific provisions for waiver of service of
18 summons provided for in Civ.R. 4.7.

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31

RULE 4.1. Process: Methods of Service

All methods of service within this state, except service by publication as provided in Civ.R. 4.4(A), are described in this rule. Methods of out-of-state service and for service in a foreign country are described in Civ.R. 4.3 and 4.5. Provisions for waiver of service are described in Civ.R. 4.7.

[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

Proposed Staff Note (July 2020)

Civ.R. 4.1 is amended to include a reference to the specific provisions for waiver of service of summons provided for in Civ.R. 4.7.

32 **RULE 4.7** **Process: Waiving Service**

33
34 **(A) Requesting a Waiver.** An individual, corporation, partnership, or association that
35 is subject to service under Civ.R. 4 through 4.6 has a duty to avoid unnecessary expenses of serving
36 the summons. The plaintiff may notify such a defendant that an action has been commenced and
37 request that the defendant waive service of a summons. The notice and request must:

38
39 (1) be in writing and be addressed as required by Civ.R. 4.2;

40
41 (2) name the court where the complaint was filed;

42
43 (3) be accompanied by a copy of the complaint, two copies of the waiver form
44 appended to this Rule 4.7, and a prepaid means for returning the form;

45
46 (4) inform the defendant, using the form appended to this Rule 4.7, of the consequences
47 of waiving and not waiving service;

48
49 (5) state the date when the request is sent;

50
51 (6) give the defendant a reasonable time of at least twenty-eight days after the request
52 was sent - or at least sixty days if sent to the defendant outside of the United States - to return the
53 waiver; and

54
55 (7) be sent by first-class mail or other reliable means.

56
57 **(B) Limited to Courts of Common Pleas.** The waiver of service provisions in this
58 rule are limited to civil actions filed in the Courts of Common Pleas and does not apply to civil
59 protection orders pursuant to Civ.R. 65.1.

60
61 **(C) Failure to Waive.** If a defendant over which the court has personal jurisdiction
62 fails, without good cause, to sign and return a waiver requested by a plaintiff, then the court may
63 impose on the defendant:

64
65 (1) the expenses later incurred in making service; and

66
67 (2) the reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, of any motion required to collect
68 those service expenses.

69
70 **(D) Time to Answer After a Waiver.** A defendant who, before being served with
71 process, timely returns a waiver need not serve an answer to the complaint until sixty days after
72 the request was sent—or until ninety days after it was sent to the defendant in a foreign country.

73
74 **(E) Results of Filing a Waiver.** When the plaintiff files a waiver, proof of service is
75 not required and these rules apply as if a summons and complaint had been served at the time of
76 filing the waiver.

77

78 (F) Jurisdiction and Venue Not Waived. Waiving service of a summons does not
79 waive any objection to jurisdiction or to venue.
80

81 **[Form] RULE 4.7 NOTICE OF A LAWSUIT AND REQUEST TO WAIVE SERVICE OF SUMMONS.**
82

83 (Caption)
84

85 To (name the defendant or — if the defendant is a corporation, partnership, or association
86 — name an officer or agent authorized to receive service):
87

88 WHY ARE YOU GETTING THIS?
89

90 A lawsuit has been filed against you, or the entity you represent, in this court under the
91 number shown above. A copy of the complaint is attached.
92

93 This is not a summons, or an official notice from the court. It is a request that, to avoid
94 expenses, you waive formal service of a summons by signing and returning the enclosed
95 waiver. To avoid these possible expenses, you must return the signed waiver within (give
96 at least 28 days or at least 60 days if the defendant is outside the United States) from the
97 date shown below, which is the date this notice was sent. Two copies of the waiver form
98 are enclosed, along with a stamped, self-addressed envelope or other prepaid means for
99 returning one copy. You may keep the other copy.
100

101 WHAT HAPPENS NEXT?
102

103 If you return the signed waiver, I will file it with the court. The action will then proceed as
104 if you had been served on the date the waiver is filed, but no summons will be served on
105 you and you will have 60 days from the date this notice is sent (see the date below) to
106 answer the complaint (or 90 days if this notice is sent to you outside the United States).
107

108 If you do not return the signed waiver within the time indicated, I will arrange to have the
109 summons and complaint served on you. And I will ask the court to require you, or the entity
110 you represent, to pay the expenses of making service.
111

112 Please read the enclosed statement about the duty to avoid unnecessary expenses.
113

114 I certify that this request is being sent to you on the date below.
115

116 Date: _____
117

118 (Signature of the attorney or unrepresented party)
119

120 _____
121

122 (Printed name)
123

124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169

(Address)

(E-mail address)

(Telephone number)

[Form] RULE 4.7 WAIVER OF THE SERVICE OF SUMMONS.

(Caption)

To (name the plaintiff's attorney or the unrepresented plaintiff):

I have received your request to waive service of a summons in this action along with a copy of the complaint, two copies of this waiver form, and a prepaid means of returning one signed copy of the form to you.

I, or the entity I represent, agree to save the expense of serving a summons and complaint in this case.

I understand that I, or the entity I represent, will keep all defenses or objections to the lawsuit, the court's jurisdiction, and the venue of the action, but that I waive any objections to the absence of a summons or of service.

I also understand that I, or the entity I represent, must file and serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 within 60 days from _____, the date when this request was sent (or 90 days if it was sent outside the United States). If I fail to do so, a default judgment could be entered against me or the entity I represent.

Date: _____

(Signature of the attorney or unrepresented party)

(Printed name)

170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216

(Address)

(E-mail address)

(Telephone number)

(Attach the following)

DUTY TO AVOID UNNECESSARY EXPENSES OF SERVING A SUMMONS

Rule 4.7 of the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain defendants to cooperate in saving unnecessary expenses of serving a summons and complaint. A defendant who is subject to the court’s personal jurisdiction and who fails to return a signed waiver of service requested by a plaintiff may be required to pay the expenses of service, unless the defendant shows good cause for the failure.

“Good cause” does not include a belief that the lawsuit is groundless, or that it has been brought in an improper venue, or that the court has no jurisdiction over this matter or over the defendant or the defendant’s property.

If the waiver is signed and returned, you can still make these and all other defenses and objections, but you cannot object to the absence of a summons or of service.

If you waive service, then you must, within the time specified on the waiver form, serve an answer or a motion under Rule 12 on the plaintiff and file a copy with the court. By signing and returning the waiver form, you are allowed more time to respond than if a summons had been served.

Proposed Staff Notes (July 2020)

Rule 4.7 is based on the federal rule permitting waiver of service. Paragraph (A) states what the present rule implies: the defendant has a duty to avoid costs associated with the service of a summons not needed to inform the defendant regarding the commencement of an action. The text of the rule also sets forth the requirements for a Notice and Request for Waiver sufficient to put the cost-shifting provision in place. These requirements are illustrated in the forms appended to the rule. Pursuant to Rule 4(D), only those persons who are identified in Rule 4.2 and who are eighteen years of age or older and not under a disability may waive service.

217 Paragraph (A)(7) permits the use of alternatives to the United States mails in sending the Notice
218 and Request. While private messenger services or electronic communications may be more expensive than
219 the mail, they may be equally reliable and on occasion more convenient to the parties. Especially with
220 respect to transmissions to foreign countries, alternative means may be desirable, for in some countries
221 facsimile transmission or electronic mail are the most efficient and economical means of communication. If
222 electronic means such as facsimile transmission or electronic mail are employed, the sender should
223 maintain a record of the transmission to assure proof of transmission if receipt is denied, but a party
224 receiving such a transmission has a duty to cooperate and cannot avoid liability for the resulting cost of
225 formal service if the transmission is prevented at the point of receipt.

226
227 A defendant failing to comply with a request for waiver shall be given an opportunity to show good
228 cause for the failure, which is the case under paragraph (B), but sufficient cause should be rare. It is not a
229 good cause for failure to waive service that the claim is unjust or that the court lacks jurisdiction. Sufficient
230 cause not to shift the cost of service would exist, however, if the defendant did not receive the request or
231 was insufficiently literate in English to understand it. It should be noted that the provisions for shifting the
232 cost of service apply only if the defendant is subject to the court's personal jurisdiction.

233
234 Paragraph (C) is a cost-shifting provision. The costs that may be imposed on the defendant could
235 include, for example, the cost of the time of a process server required to make contact with a defendant
236 residing in a guarded apartment house or residential development. The paragraph is explicit that the costs
237 of enforcing the cost-shifting provision are themselves recoverable from a defendant who fails to return the
238 waiver. In the absence of such a provision, the purpose of the rule would be frustrated by the cost of its
239 enforcement, which is likely to be high in relation to the small benefit secured by the plaintiff.

240
241 Paragraph (D) extends the time for answer if, before being served with process, the defendant
242 waives formal service. The extension is intended to serve as an inducement to waive service and to assure
243 that a defendant will not gain any delay by declining to waive service and thereby causing the additional
244 time needed to effect service. By waiving service, a defendant is not called upon to respond to the complaint
245 until 60 days from the date the notice was sent to it—90 days if the notice was sent to a foreign country—
246 rather than within the 28-day period from date of service specified in Rule 12.

247
248 Paragraph (E) clarifies the effective date of service when service is waived. The device of requested
249 waiver of service is not suitable if a limitations period which is about to expire is not tolled by filing the action.
250 Unless there is ample time, the plaintiff should proceed directly to the formal methods for service identified
251 in Rules 4-4.6.

252
253 The procedure of requesting waiver of service should also not be used if the time for service under
254 Rule 4(E) will expire before the date on which the waiver must be returned. The court could refuse a request
255 for additional time unless the plaintiff can demonstrate good cause as to why service was not made within
256 that period. It may be noted that the presumptive time limit for service under Rule 4(E) does not apply to
257 out-of-state service or service in a foreign country.

258
259 Paragraph (F) of Rule 4.7 is explicit that a timely waiver of service of a summons does not prejudice
260 the right of a defendant to object by means of a motion authorized by Rule 12(B) to the absence of
261 jurisdiction, or to assert improper venue under Rule 12(B)(3). The only issues eliminated are those involving
262 the sufficiency of the summons or the sufficiency of the method by which it is served.

263 **RULE 16. Pretrial Procedure**

264
265 **(A) Purposes of a Pretrial Conference.** In any action, the court may order the
266 attorneys and any unrepresented parties to appear for one or more pretrial conferences for such
267 purposes as:

- 268
269 (1) expediting disposition of the action;
270
271 (2) establishing early and continuing control so that the case will not be protracted
272 because of lack of management;
273
274 (3) discouraging wasteful pretrial activities;
275
276 (4) improving the quality of the trial through more thorough preparation; and
277
278 (5) facilitating settlement.

279
280 Attorneys, their clients, and unrepresented parties shall endeavor in good faith to agree on
281 all the schedules contemplated by this rule and courts shall consider such agreements in the
282 establishment of any such schedule.

283
284 **(B) Scheduling.**

285
286 (1) Scheduling Order. Except for matters listed in Civ. R. 1(C), the court shall issue a
287 scheduling order:

- 288
289 (a) after receiving the parties' report under Civ. R. 26(F);
290
291 (b) after consulting with the parties' attorneys and any unrepresented parties at
292 a scheduling conference; or
293
294 (c) sua sponte by the court.

295
296 (2) Time to Issue. The court shall issue the scheduling order as soon as practicable, but
297 unless the court finds good cause for delay, the court shall issue it within the earlier of 90 days
298 after any defendant has been served with the complaint or 60 days after any defendant has
299 responded to the complaint.

300
301 (3) Contents. The scheduling order may:

- 302
303 (a) limit the time to join other parties, amend the pleadings, complete
304 discovery, and file motions;
305
306 (b) modify the timing of disclosures under Civ. R. 26(A);
307
308 (c) modify the extent of discovery;

309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354

(d) provide for disclosure, discovery, or preservation of electronically stored information;

(e) direct that before moving for an order relating to discovery, the movant must request a conference with the court;

(f) set dates for pretrial conferences and for trial; and

(g) include other appropriate matters.

(4) *Modifying a Schedule.* A schedule may be modified only for good cause and with the court's consent.

(C) Attendance and Matters for Consideration at a Pretrial Conference.

(1) *Attendance.* A represented party must authorize at least one of its attorneys to make stipulations and admissions about all matters that can reasonably be anticipated for discussion at a pretrial conference. If appropriate, the court may require that a party or its representative be present or reasonably available by other means to consider possible settlement.

(2) *Matters for Consideration.* At any pretrial conference, the court shall consider and take appropriate action on the following matters:

(a) The possibility of settlement of the action;

(b) The simplification of the issues;

(c) Itemizations of expenses and special damages;

(d) The necessity of amendments to the pleadings;

(e) The exchange of medical reports and hospital records (The production by any party of medical reports, medical records, hospital records does not constitute a waiver of the privilege granted under section 2317.02 of the Revised Code.);

(f) The number of expert witnesses;

(g) The preservation of electronically stored information and other information held by the parties or third parties;

(h) The timing, methods of search and production, and the limitations, if any, to be applied to the discovery of documents and electronically stored information;

(i) Disclosure and the exchange of documents obtained through public records requests;

355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400

(j) Any agreements or decisions on the sharing or shifting of costs pursuant to Rule 26(C)(2);

(k) The adoption of any agreements by the parties for asserting claims of privilege or for protecting designated materials after production;

(l) The imposition of sanctions as authorized by Civ. R. 37;

(m) The possibility of obtaining:

(i) Admissions of fact;

(ii) Agreements on admissibility of documents and other evidence to avoid unnecessary testimony or other proof during trial.

(n) Disposing of pending motions;

(o) Determination of the applicable deadline for disposition of the case pursuant to Sup. R. 39 and 42, and a timetable for:

(i) initial disclosures of known and reasonably available non-privileged, non-work product documents and things that support or contradict the specifically pleaded claims and defenses;

(ii) joining parties;

(iii) amending the pleadings;

(iv) mediation or other alternative dispute resolution requested by parties;

(v) exchanging lists of lay witnesses, expert witnesses and reports, and exhibits for trial;

(vi) completing discovery;

(vii) filing of motions, responses, replies and decisions;

(viii) further case management conferences; and

(ix) a trial date, preferably one agreed-upon by the parties.

(p) Facilitating in other ways, the just, speedy, and inexpensive disposition of the action.

401 (D) Pretrial Orders. After any conference under this rule, the court should issue an
402 order reciting the action taken. This order controls the course of the action unless the court modifies
403 it.

404
405 (E) Final Pretrial Conference and Orders. The court may hold a final pretrial
406 conference to formulate a trial plan, including a plan to facilitate the admission of evidence. The
407 conference must be held as close to the start of trial as is reasonable, and must be attended by at
408 least one attorney who will conduct the trial for each party and by any unrepresented party. The
409 court may modify the order issued after a final pretrial conference only to prevent manifest
410 injustice.

411
412 In any action, the court may schedule one or more conferences before trial to accomplish
413 the following objectives:

- 414 (1) The possibility of settlement of the action;
415
416 (2) The simplification of the issues;
417
418 (3) Itemizations of expenses and special damages;
419
420 (4) The necessity of amendments to the pleadings;
421
422 (5) The exchange of reports of expert witnesses expected to be called by each party;
423
424 (6) The exchange of medical reports and hospital records;
425
426 (7) The number of expert witnesses;
427
428 (8) The timing, methods of search and production, and the limitations, if any, to be
429 applied to the discovery of documents and electronically stored information;
430
431 (9) The adoption of any agreements by the parties for asserting claims of privilege or
432 for protecting designated materials after production;
433
434 (10) The imposition of sanctions as authorized by Civ. R. 37;
435
436 (11) The possibility of obtaining:
437
438 (a) Admissions of fact;
439
440 (b) Agreements on admissibility of documents and other evidence to avoid
441 unnecessary testimony or other proof during trial.
442
443 (12) Other matters which may aid in the disposition of the action.

444 The production by any party of medical reports or hospital records does not constitute a
445
446

447 waiver of the privilege granted under section 2317.02 of the Revised Code.
448

449 ~~The court may, and on the request of either party shall, make a written order that recites~~
450 ~~the action taken at the conference. The court shall enter the order and submit copies to the~~
451 ~~parties. Unless modified, the order shall control the subsequent course of action.~~
452

453 ~~Upon reasonable notice to the parties, the court may require that parties, or their~~
454 ~~representatives or insurers, attend a conference or participate in other pretrial proceedings.~~
455

456 **Proposed Staff Note (2020 Amendment)**
457

458
459 Civ. R. 16 has been amended to bring the Ohio rule closer to the federal rule, while still allowing
460 for Ohio courts to decide whether to hold a scheduling conference. Civ. R. 16(A) lists several
461 purposes for why a scheduling conference may be held. In addition, the last paragraph of Civ. R.
462 16(A) provides that parties will attempt to agree on the schedules contemplated by Civ. R. 16, and
463 courts will endeavor to respect the agreements of the parties. This paragraph is consistent with the
464 concept of shared responsibility among parties and courts in Civ. R. 1.
465

466 Similar to the prior version of Civ. R. 16, Civ. R. 16(A) still provides that holding a scheduling
467 conference is permissive, not mandatory. However, Civ. R. 16(B) requires that in all cases, except
468 those set forth in Civ. R. 1(C), a scheduling order must be issued by the court. The purpose of this
469 requirement is to promote greater consistency, predictability, and transparency for attorneys, parties,
470 and unrepresented parties in courts across Ohio.
471

472 Civ. R. 16(B)(1) clarifies that a scheduling order must be issued after the court receives the
473 parties' Civ. R. 26(F) report or after the court holds a scheduling conference. If no report is submitted
474 or the court does not hold a scheduling conference, the court must issue the scheduling order sua
475 sponte.
476

477 Civ. R. 16(B)(2) specifies the timing requirements by which a scheduling order must be issued,
478 based on the date that any defendant has been served with the complaint or that any defendant has
479 responded to the complaint. This subsection does not require a court to wait for all defendants to be
480 served with the complaint or respond to the complaint before entering a scheduling order.
481

482 Civ. R. 16(B)(3) lists potential content that a court may include in a scheduling order.
483

484 Civ. R. 16(C) describes a variety of items that a court may address at a scheduling conference,
485 including a timetable to address deadlines for discovery and various disclosures, dispositive motions,
486 and trial. Many of the items now listed in Civ. R. 16(C) were included in the prior version of Civ. R.
487 16.
488

489 Civ. R. 16(E) and (F) are identical to these same subsections in the federal rule.

490 **RULE 26. General Provisions Governing Discovery**

491
492 (A) **Policy; discovery methods.** It is the policy of these rules (1) to preserve the right
493 of attorneys to prepare cases for trial with that degree of privacy necessary to encourage them to
494 prepare their cases thoroughly and to investigate not only the favorable but the unfavorable aspects
495 of such cases and (2) to prevent an attorney from taking undue advantage of an adversary's industry
496 or efforts.

497
498 Parties may obtain discovery by one or more of the following methods: deposition upon
499 oral examination or written questions; written interrogatories; production of documents,
500 electronically stored information, or things or permission to enter upon land or other property, for
501 inspection and other purposes; physical and mental examinations; and requests for admission.
502 Unless the court orders otherwise, the frequency of use of these methods is not limited.

503
504 (B) **Scope of discovery.** Unless otherwise ordered by the court in accordance with these
505 rules, the scope of discovery is as follows:

506
507 (1) In General. ~~Parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged,~~
508 ~~which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action, whether it relates to the~~
509 ~~claim or defense of the party seeking discovery or to the claim or defense of any other party,~~
510 ~~including the existence, description, nature, custody, condition and location of any books,~~
511 ~~documents, electronically stored information, or other tangible things and the identity and location~~
512 ~~of persons having knowledge of any discoverable matter. It is not ground for objection that the~~
513 ~~information sought will be inadmissible at the trial if the information sought appears reasonably~~
514 ~~calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Unless otherwise limited by court order,~~
515 the scope of discovery is as follows: Parties may obtain discovery regarding any nonprivileged
516 matter that is relevant to any party's claim or defense and proportional to the needs of the case,
517 considering the importance of the issues at stake in the action, the amount in controversy, the
518 parties' relative access to relevant information, the parties' ~~access to~~ resources, the importance of
519 the discovery in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery
520 outweighs its likely benefit. Information within this scope of discovery need not be admissible in
521 evidence to be discoverable.

522
523 (2) Insurance agreements. A party may obtain discovery of the existence and contents
524 of any insurance agreement under which any person carrying on an insurance business may be
525 liable to satisfy part or all of a judgment which may be entered in the action or to indemnify or
526 reimburse for payments made to satisfy the judgment. Information concerning the insurance
527 agreement is not by reason of disclosure subject to comment or admissible in evidence at trial.

528
529 (3) Initial Disclosure by a Party.

530
531 (a) Without awaiting a discovery request, a party must provide to the other
532 parties, except as exempted by Civ. R. 26(B)(3)(b) or as otherwise stipulated, or ordered
533 by the court:

534
535 (i) the name and, if known, the address and telephone number of each

536 individual likely to have discoverable information - along with the subjects
537 of that information - that the disclosing party may use to support its claims
538 or defenses, unless the use would be solely for impeachment;

539
540 (ii) a copy - or a description by category and location - of all documents,
541 electronically stored information, and tangible things that the disclosing
542 party has in its possession, custody, or control and may use to support its
543 claims or defenses, unless the use would be solely for impeachment;

544
545 (iii) a computation of each category of damages claimed by the
546 disclosing party - who must also make available for inspection and copying
547 as under Civ. R. 34 the documents or other evidentiary material, unless
548 privileged or protected from disclosure, on which each computation is
549 based, including materials bearing on the nature and extent of injuries
550 suffered; and

551
552 (iv) for inspection and copying as under Civ. R. 34, any insurance
553 agreement under which an insurance business may be liable to satisfy all or
554 part of a possible judgment in the action or to indemnify or reimburse for
555 payments made to satisfy the judgment.

556
557 (b) The following proceedings are exempt from initial disclosure:

558
559 (i) an action for review on an administrative record;

560
561 (ii) an action brought without an attorney by a person in the custody of
562 the United States, a state, or a state subdivision;

563
564 (iii) an action to enforce or quash an administrative summons or
565 subpoena;

566
567 (iv) a proceeding ancillary to a proceeding in another court; and

568
569 (v) an action to enforce an arbitration award.

570
571 (c) A party must make the initial disclosures no later than the parties' first pre-
572 trial or case management conference, unless a different time is set by stipulation or court
573 order, or unless a party objects. In ruling on the objection, the court must determine what
574 disclosures, if any, are to be made and must set the time for disclosure.

575
576 (d) A party that is first served or otherwise joined after the first pre-trial or case
577 management conference must make the initial disclosures within 30 days after being served
578 or joined, unless a different time is set by stipulation or court order.

579
580 (e) A party must make its initial disclosures based on the information then
581 reasonably available to it. A party is not excused from making its disclosures because it

582 has not fully investigated the case or because it challenges the sufficiency of another party's
583 disclosures or because another party has not made its disclosures.
584

585 ~~(3)~~(4) Trial preparation: materials. Subject to the provisions of subdivision (B)(6) of this
586 rule, a party may obtain discovery of documents, electronically stored information and tangible
587 things prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for another party or by or for that other
588 party's representative (including his attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or agent) only
589 upon a showing of good cause therefor. A statement concerning the action or its subject matter
590 previously given by the party seeking the statement may be obtained without showing good cause.
591 A statement of a party is (a) a written statement signed or otherwise adopted or approved by the
592 party, or (b) a stenographic, mechanical, electrical, or other recording, or a transcription thereof,
593 which is a substantially verbatim recital of an oral statement which was made by the party and
594 contemporaneously recorded.
595

596 (5) Specific Limitations on Electronically Stored Information. A party need not
597 provide discovery of electronically stored information from sources that the party identifies as not
598 reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. On motion to compel discovery or for a
599 protective order, the party from whom discovery is sought must show that the information is not
600 reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. If that showing is made, the court may
601 nonetheless order discovery from such sources if the requesting party shows good cause,
602 considering the limitations of Rule 26(B)(6). The court may specify conditions for the discovery.
603

604 (6) Limitations on Frequency and Extent.
605

606 (a) When Permitted. By order, the court may limit the number of depositions,
607 requests under Rule 36, and interrogatories or the length of depositions.
608

609 (b) When Required. On motion or on its own, the court must limit the frequency
610 or extent of discovery otherwise allowed by these rules or by local rule if it determines
611 that:
612

613 (i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative,
614 or can be obtained from some other source that is more convenient, less
615 burdensome, or less expensive;
616

617 (ii) the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity to obtain the
618 information by discovery in the action; or
619

620 (iii) the proposed discovery is outside the scope permitted by Rule
621 26(B)(1).
622

623 ~~(4) Electronically stored information. A party need not provide discovery of~~
624 ~~electronically stored information when the production imposes undue burden or expense. On~~
625 ~~motion to compel discovery or for a protective order, the party from whom electronically stored~~
626 ~~information is sought must show that the information is not reasonably accessible because of undue~~
627 ~~burden or expense. If a showing of undue burden or expense is made, the court may nonetheless~~

628 order production of electronically stored information if the requesting party shows good cause.
629 The court shall consider the following factors when determining if good cause exists:

630
631 (a) ~~whether the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative;~~

632
633 (b) ~~whether the information sought can be obtained from some other source that~~
634 ~~is less burdensome, or less expensive;~~

635
636 (c) ~~whether the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by~~
637 ~~discovery in the action to obtain the information sought; and~~

638
639 (d) ~~whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery outweighs the~~
640 ~~likely benefit, taking into account the relative importance in the case of the issues on which~~
641 ~~electronic discovery is sought, the amount in controversy, the parties' resources, and the~~
642 ~~importance of the proposed discovery in resolving the issues.~~

643
644 (c) In ordering production of electronically stored information, the court may
645 specify the format, extent, timing, allocation of expenses and other conditions for the
646 discovery of the electronically stored information.

647
648 ~~(5)(7) Trial preparation: experts. Disclosure of Expert Testimony.~~

649
650 (a) ~~Subject to the provisions of division (B)(5)(b) of this rule and Civ.R. 35(B),~~
651 ~~a party may discover facts known or opinions held by an expert retained or specially~~
652 ~~employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial only upon a~~
653 ~~showing that the party seeking discovery is unable without undue hardship to obtain facts~~
654 ~~and opinions on the same subject by other means or upon a showing of other exceptional~~
655 ~~circumstances indicating that denial of discovery would cause manifest injustice.~~

656
657 (b) ~~As an alternative or in addition to obtaining discovery under division~~
658 ~~(B)(5)(a) of this rule, a party by means of interrogatories may require any other party (i) to~~
659 ~~identify each person whom the other party expects to call as an expert witness at trial, and~~
660 ~~(ii) to state the subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify. Thereafter, any~~
661 ~~party may discover from the expert or the other party facts known or opinions held by the~~
662 ~~expert which are relevant to the stated subject matter. Discovery of the expert's opinions~~
663 ~~and the grounds therefor is restricted to those previously given to the other party or those~~
664 ~~to be given on direct examination at trial.~~

665
666 (a) A party must disclose to the other parties the identity of any witness it may
667 use at trial to present evidence under Ohio Rule of Evidence 702, 703, or 705.

668
669 (b) The reports of expert witnesses expected to be called by each party shall be
670 exchanged with all other parties. The parties shall submit expert reports and curricula vitae
671 in accordance with the time schedule established by the Court. The party with the burden
672 of proof as to a particular issue shall be required to first submit expert reports as to that
673 issue. Thereafter, the responding party shall submit opposing expert reports within the

674 schedule established by the Court.

675
676 (c) Other than under subsection (d), a party may not call an expert witness to
677 testify unless a written report has been procured from the witness and provided to opposing
678 counsel. The report of an expert must disclose a complete statement of all opinions and the
679 basis and reasons for them as to each matter on which the expert will testify. It must also
680 state the compensation for the expert's study or testimony. Unless good cause is shown, all
681 reports and, if applicable, supplemental reports must be supplied no later than thirty (30)
682 days prior to trial. An expert will not be permitted to testify or provide opinions on matters
683 not disclosed in his or her report.

684
685 (d) Healthcare Providers. A witness who has provided medical, dental,
686 optometric, chiropractic, or mental health care may testify as an expert and offer opinions
687 as to matters addressed in the healthcare provider's records. Healthcare providers' records
688 relevant to the case shall be provided to opposing counsel in lieu of an expert report in
689 accordance with the time schedule established by the Court.

690
691 (e) A party may take a discovery deposition of their opponent's expert witness
692 only after the mutual exchange of reports has occurred unless the expert is a healthcare
693 provider permitted to testify as an expert under subsection (d). Upon good cause shown,
694 additional time after submission of both sides' expert reports will be provided for these
695 discovery depositions if requested by a party. If a party chooses not to hire an expert in
696 opposition to an issue, that party will be permitted to take the discovery deposition of the
697 proponent's expert.

698
699 ~~(e)~~(f) Drafts of any report provided by any expert, regardless of the form in which
700 the draft is recorded, are protected by division (B)(4) of this rule.

701
702 ~~(d)~~(g) Communications between a party's attorney and any witness identified as
703 an expert witness under division ~~(B)(5)(b)~~ (B)(7) of this rule regardless of the form of the
704 communications, are protected by division ~~(B)(3)~~ (B)(4) of this rule except to the extent
705 that the communications:

- 706
707 (i) relate to compensation for the expert's study or testimony;
708
709 (ii) identify facts or data that the party's attorney provided and that the
710 expert considered in forming the opinions to be expressed; or
711
712 (iii) identify assumptions that the party's attorney provided and that the
713 expert relied on in forming the opinions to be expressed.

714
715 (h) Expert Employed Only for Trial Preparation. Ordinarily, a party may not,
716 by interrogatories or deposition, discover facts known or opinions held by an expert who
717 has been retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or to
718 prepare for trial and who is not expected to be called as a witness at trial. But a party may
719 do so only:

720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765

(i) as provided in Rule 35(b); or

(ii) on showing exceptional circumstances under which, it is impracticable for the party to obtain facts or opinions on the same subject by other means.

~~(e)(iii) The court may require that the party seeking discovery under division (B)(7) of this rule shall pay the expert a reasonable fee for time spent in deposition responding to discovery, and, with respect to discovery permitted under division (B)(5)(a) of this rule, the court may require a party to pay another party a fair portion of the fees and expenses incurred by the latter party in obtaining facts and opinions from the expert.~~

~~(6)~~(8) Claims of Privilege or Protection of Trial-Preparation Materials.

(a) Information Withheld. When information subject to discovery is withheld on a claim that it is privileged or subject to protection as trial preparation materials, the claim shall be made expressly and shall be supported by a description of the nature of the documents, communications, or things not produced that is sufficient to enable the demanding party to contest the claim.

(b) Information Produced. If information is produced in discovery that is subject to a claim of privilege or of protection as trial preparation material, the party making the claim may notify any party that received the information of the claim and the basis for it. After being notified, a receiving party must promptly return, sequester, or destroy the specified information and any copies within the party's possession, custody or control. A party may not use or disclose the information until the claim is resolved. A receiving party may promptly present the information to the court under seal for a determination of the claim of privilege or of protection as trial preparation material. If the receiving party disclosed the information before being notified, it must take reasonable steps to retrieve it. The producing party must preserve the information until the claim is resolved.

(C) **Protective orders.** Upon motion by any party or by the person from whom discovery is sought, and for good cause shown, the court in which the action is pending may make any order that justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense, including one or more of the following: (1) that the discovery not be had; (2) that the discovery may be had only on specified terms and conditions, including a designation of the time or place or the allocation of expenses; (3) that the discovery may be had only by a method of discovery other than that selected by the party seeking discovery; (4) that certain matters not be inquired into or that the scope of the discovery be limited to certain matters; (5) that discovery be conducted with no one present except persons designated by the court; (6) that a deposition after being sealed be opened only by order of the court; (7) that a trade secret or other confidential research, development, or commercial information not be disclosed or be disclosed only in a designated way; (8) that the parties simultaneously file specified documents or information enclosed in sealed envelopes to be opened as directed by the court.

766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811

If the motion for a protective order is denied in whole or in part, the court, on terms and conditions as are just, may order that any party or person provide or permit discovery. The provisions of Civ. R. 37(A)(4) apply to the award of expenses incurred in relation to the motion.

Before any person moves for a protective order under this rule, that person shall make a reasonable effort to resolve the matter through discussion with the attorney or unrepresented party seeking discovery. A motion for a protective order shall be accompanied by a statement reciting the effort made to resolve the matter in accordance with this paragraph.

(D) Sequence and timing of discovery. Unless the court upon motion, for the convenience of parties and witnesses and in the interests of justice, orders otherwise, methods of discovery may be used in any sequence and the fact that a party is conducting discovery, whether by deposition or otherwise, shall not operate to delay any other party's discovery.

(E) Supplementation of responses. A party who has responded to a request for discovery with a response that was complete when made is under no duty to supplement his response to include information thereafter acquired, except as follows:

(1) A party is under a duty seasonably to supplement his response with respect to any question directly addressed to (a) the identity and location of person having knowledge of discoverable matters, and (b) the identity of each person expected to be called as an expert witness as trial and the subject matter on which he is expected to testify.

(2) A party who knows or later learns that his response is incorrect is under a duty seasonably to correct the response.

(3) A duty to supplement responses may be imposed by order of the court, agreement of the parties, or at any time prior to trial through requests for supplementation of prior responses.

(F) Conference of the Parties; Planning for Discovery.

(1) Conference Timing. Except those matters excepted under Civ. R. 1(C), or when the court orders otherwise, the attorneys and unrepresented parties shall confer as soon as practicable - and in any event no later than 21 days before a scheduling conference is to be held.

(2) Conference Content; Parties' Responsibilities. In conferring, the parties must consider the nature and basis of their claims and defenses and the possibilities for promptly settling or resolving the case; make or arrange for the disclosures required by Civ. R. 26(A)(1); discuss any issues about preserving discoverable information; and develop a proposed discovery plan. The attorneys of record and all unrepresented parties that have appeared in the case are jointly responsible for arranging the conference, for attempting in good faith to agree on the proposed discovery plan, and for filing with the court within 14 days after the conference a written report outlining the plan. The court may order the parties or attorneys to attend the conference in person.

(3) Discovery Plan. A discovery plan shall state the parties' views and proposals on:

812
813 (a) what changes should be made in the timing, form, or requirement for
814 disclosures under Civ. R. 26(B), including a statement of when initial disclosures were
815 made or will be made;

816
817 (b) agreed-upon deadlines for discovery and other items that may be included
818 in a case schedule to be issued under Rule 16, any proposed modifications to a schedule
819 already issued under Civ. R. 16, and compliance with Sup. R 39 and 42.

820
821 (c) the subjects on which discovery may be needed, when discovery should be
822 completed, and whether discovery should be conducted in phases or be limited to or
823 focused on particular issues;

824
825 (d) any issues about disclosure, discovery, or preservation of electronically
826 stored information, including the form or forms in which it should be produced;

827
828 (e) disclosure and the exchange of documents obtained through public records
829 requests;

830
831 (f) any issues about claims of privilege or of protection as trial-preparation
832 materials;

833
834 (g) what changes should be made in the limitations on discovery imposed under
835 these rules or by local rule, and what other limitations should be imposed;

836
837 (h) any other orders that the court should issue under Civ. R. 26(C) or under
838 Civ. R. 16(B) and (C); and

839
840 (i) any modifications required or to be requested under any scheduling order
841 issued under Civ. R. 16.

842
843
844 **Proposed Staff Notes (2020 Amendment)**

845
846 Civ. R. 26 has been amended to bring the Ohio rule closer to the federal rule in many respects.

847
848 **Rule 26(B)(1)**

849
850 Civ. R. 26(B)(1) incorporates nearly identical language as the federal rule in Fed. R. Civ. P.
851 26(b)(1), as amended in 2015. Civ. R. 26(B)(1) now includes language bearing on proportionality,
852 which contemplates greater judicial involvement in the discovery process and thus acknowledges the
853 reality that it cannot always operate on a self-regulating basis. The scope of available information,
854 including the increase and pervasiveness of electronically stored information, has greatly increased
855 both the potential cost of wide- ranging discovery and the potential for discovery to be used as an
856 instrument for delay or oppression. The present amendment reflects the need for continuing and close
857 judicial involvement in the cases that do not yield readily to the ideal of effective party management. It
858 is expected that discovery will be effectively managed by the parties in many cases. But there will be
859 important occasions for judicial management, both when the parties are legitimately unable to resolve

860 important differences and when the parties fall short of effective, cooperative management on their
861 own.

862
863 This change does not place on the party seeking discovery the burden of addressing all
864 proportionality considerations. Nor is the change intended to permit the opposing party to refuse
865 discovery simply by making a boilerplate objection that it is not proportional. The parties and the court
866 have a collective responsibility to consider the proportionality of all discovery and consider it in
867 resolving discovery disputes.

868
869 The parties may begin discovery without a full appreciation of the factors that bear on
870 proportionality. A party requesting discovery, for example, may have little information about the burden
871 or expense of responding. A party requested to provide discovery may have little information about
872 the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues as understood by the requesting party. Many
873 of these uncertainties should be addressed and reduced in the parties' Civ. R. 26(F) conference and
874 in scheduling and pretrial conferences with the court. But if the parties continue to disagree, the
875 discovery dispute could be brought before the court. A party claiming undue burden or expense
876 ordinarily has far better information — perhaps the only information — with respect to that part of the
877 determination. A party claiming that a request is important to resolve the issues should be able to
878 explain the ways in which the underlying information bears on the issues as that party understands
879 them. The court's responsibility, using all the information provided by the parties, is to consider these
880 and all the other factors in reaching a case-specific determination of the appropriate scope of
881 discovery.

882
883 With regard to the parties' relative access to relevant information, some cases involve what
884 often is called "information asymmetry." One party — often an individual plaintiff — may have very
885 little discoverable information. The other party may have vast amounts of information, including
886 information that can be readily retrieved and information that is more difficult to retrieve. In practice
887 these circumstances often mean that the burden of responding to discovery lies heavier on the party
888 who has more information, and properly so.

889
890 The former provision for discovery of relevant but inadmissible information that appears
891 "reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence" is also deleted. It is replaced
892 by the direct statement that "Information within this scope of discovery need not be admissible in
893 evidence to be discoverable." Discovery of nonprivileged information not admissible in evidence
894 remains available so long as it is otherwise within the scope of discovery.

895 896 **Rule 26(B)(3)**

897
898 This provision has been added to include a requirement that parties, in most cases, exchange
899 initial disclosures without awaiting discovery requests. The language of Civ. R. 26(B)(3) closely follows
900 the federal rule. The purpose of the initial disclosure obligation is to accelerate the exchange of
901 information about the case, consistent with Civ. R. 1 and 26(B)(1).

902 903 **Rule 26(B)(5)**

904
905 This subsection is revised to preserve the limitation on production of electronically stored
906 information ("ESI") if it is from a source not reasonably accessible due to undue burden or cost. The court
907 may still order production upon a showing of good cause. The amended rule eliminates the prior factors to
908 be considered when determining if good cause exists and relies instead on the general concepts of
909 proportionality contained in Rule 26.

910 911 **Rule 26(B)(6)**

912
913 Civ. R. 26(B)(6) has been added to clarify that courts have authority to modify the frequency
914 and extent of discovery, including consideration that bear on proportionality to Civ. R. 26(B)(1). This
915 language in Civ. R. 26(B)(6) is similar to the language in Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(2)(A) and (C).

916
917 **Rule 26(B)(7)**
918

919 The Ohio Civil Rules had not previously required experts to provide a written report. The Local
920 Rules of some counties required a written report while many others did not. Interrogatories directed to
921 the subject matter on which an expert may testify have in practice shown to be an insufficient means
922 to ascertain an opposing expert's opinions and the grounds upon which they are based. The absence
923 of a written report frequently puts counsel in the position of having to bear the substantial time and
924 expense of a deposition in order to learn the opinions of an opposing party's expert. Requiring a written
925 report from experts setting forth all opinions and the basis and reasons for such opinions may, in many
926 cases, obviate the need for a deposition, and will lessen the time and significant expense associated
927 with expert discovery. So will permitting the deposition of experts only after the mutual exchange of
928 expert reports. Further expense can be lessened by permitting healthcare providers to testify as an
929 expert as to matters addressed in medical records, without the necessity of writing a separate medical
930 report, if such records are timely provided to opposing counsel. Subsection (B)(7)(h) is the same as
931 Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4)(D) and protects facts and opinions held by an expert who is not expected to
932 be called as a witness at trial.

933
934 **Rule 26(F)**
935

936 The changes in the proposed rules are best highlighted and understood in contrast to the
937 Federal Rules. The differences between proposed Ohio's Civ.R. 26(F) and Fed. Civ.R. 26(F) are as
938 follows:
939

940 1. Civ.R. 26(F)(1) – The Ohio Rule reads, “Except those matters excepted under Civ.R.
941 1(C)[...].” The Federal Rule reads, “Except in a proceeding exempted from initial disclosure under
942 Rule 26(a)(1)(B)[...].”
943

944 2. Civ.R. 26(F)(1) – The Ohio Rule states that “attorneys and unrepresented parties shall
945 confer as soon as practicable[...].” The Federal Rule states that “the parties must confer as soon as
946 practicable[...].”
947

948 3. Civ. R. 26(F)(1) – The Ohio Rule reads, at the end, “21 days before a scheduling conference
949 is to be held.” The intent with this language of the proposed Ohio Rule is to simplify the setting of the
950 scheduling conference and to give the court greater flexibility in setting that conference. The Federal
951 Rule reads, at the end, “21 days before a scheduling conference is held or a scheduling order is due
952 under Rule 16(b).”
953

954 4. Civ.R. 26(F)(2) – The Ohio Rule reads, at the end of the second to last sentence, “and for
955 filing with the court[...].” The Federal Rule reads, at the end of the second of the second to last
956 sentence, “and for submitting with the court[...].”
957

958 5. Civ.R. 26(F)(3) – The Ohio Rule uses the word “shall” and the Federal Rule uses the
959 word“must.”
960

961 6. Civ.R. 26(F)(3)(e) – The Ohio Rule addresses public records disclosure as part of the
962 discovery plan whereas the Federal Rule does not.
963

964 7. Civ.R. 26(F)(3)(f) – The Ohio Rule ends with “of protection as trial-preparation
965 materials[...].” The Federal Rule (Fed. Civ.R. 26(F)(3)(D)) ends with “as trial-preparation materials,
966 including – if the parties agree on a procedure to assert these claims after production – whether to ask
967 the court to include their agreement in an order under Federal Rule of Evidence 502[...].”
968

969 8. Civ.R. 26(F)(3)(b) and (i) – these subsections are not included in Fed. Civ.R. 26(F)(3).
970
971

971 9. Civ.R. 26(F)(4) – This subsection was removed from the proposed Ohio Rules, but it is
972 included in the Federal Rules.

973
974 10. This amendment introduces to Ohio’s civil rules the concept of an early, mandatory
975 conference among the attorneys and any unrepresented party, and requires the filing of a written report
976 outlining the results of that conference. This amendment also requires that the discovery plan, to
977 which counsel and the parties agree, be in compliance with the time limitations of Sup.R. 39 and 42.

978 **RULE 53. Magistrates.**
979

980 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**
981

982 **(C) Authority.**
983

984 (1) *Scope.* To assist courts of record and pursuant to reference under Civ. R. 53(D)(1),
985 magistrates are authorized, subject to the terms of the relevant reference, to do any of the following:
986

987 (a) Determine any motion in any case;

988 (b) Conduct the trial of any case that will not be tried to a jury;
989

990 (c) Upon unanimous written consent of the parties, preside over the trial of any
991 case that will be tried to a jury;
992

993 (d) Conduct proceedings upon application for the issuance of a temporary
994 protection order as authorized by law;
995

996 (e) Exercise any other authority specifically vested in magistrates by statute and
997 consistent with this rule.
998
999

1000 (2) *Jury trials before magistrates.* Notwithstanding any other provision of these rules,
1001 in jury trials presided over by magistrates, the factual findings of the jury shall be conclusive as in
1002 any trial before a judge. All motions presented following the unanimous written consent of the
1003 parties, including those under Civ.R. 26, 37, 50, 51, 56, 59, 60, and 62, shall be heard and decided
1004 by the magistrate. No objections shall be entertained to the factual findings of a jury, or to the
1005 motion or legal rulings made by the magistrate except on appeal to the appropriate appellate court
1006 after entry of a final judgment or final appealable order. The trial judge to whom the matter was
1007 originally assigned before the parties consented to trial before a magistrate shall enter judgment
1008 consistent with the magistrate's journalized entry pursuant to Civ.R. 58, but shall not otherwise
1009 review the magistrate's rulings or a jury's factual findings in a jury trial before a magistrate.
1010

1011 ~~(2)~~(3) *Regulation of proceedings.* In performing the responsibilities described in Civ. R.
1012 53(C)(1), magistrates are authorized, subject to the terms of the relevant reference, to regulate all
1013 proceedings as if by the court and to do everything necessary for the efficient performance of those
1014 responsibilities, including but not limited to, the following:
1015

1016 (a) Issuing subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses and the production of
1017 evidence;
1018

1019 (b) Ruling upon the admissibility of evidence;
1020

1021 (c) Putting witnesses under oath and examining them;
1022

1023 (d) Calling the parties to the action and examining them under oath;

1024 (e) When necessary to obtain the presence of an alleged contemnor in cases
1025 involving direct or indirect contempt of court, issuing an attachment for the alleged
1026 contemnor and setting the type, amount, and any conditions of bail pursuant to Crim. R.
1027 46;

1028
1029 (f) Imposing, subject to Civ. R. 53(D)(8), appropriate sanctions for civil or
1030 criminal contempt committed in the presence of the magistrate.

1031
1032 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

1033
1034
1035 **Proposed Staff Notes (July 2020)**

1036
1037 **Division (C)(2)**

1038
1039 A major improvement to federal practice in the last half century was the authorization given
1040 magistrate judges to conduct civil jury trials. F.R.C.P. 73. Following the lead of the federal courts, Ohio
1041 magistrates also now conduct civil jury trials with written consent of all parties as authorized by Civ.R.
1042 53(C)(1)(c). Yet, as demonstrated in *Gilson v. American Institute of Alternative Medicine*, 10th Dist. Case
1043 No. 15AP-548, 2016-Ohio-1324, ¶¶ 28-29, 103, Ohio procedure remains cumbersome after jury trials
1044 conducted by magistrates, and may require the trial court to unnecessarily review factual findings of the
1045 jury and certain interlocutory rulings of a magistrate. This is unnecessarily time consuming and costly.

1046
1047 The amendment adds a new Division (C)(2) and renumbers the existing Division (C)(2) as Division
1048 (C)(3). New Civ.R. 53(C)(2) streamlines the procedure following jury trials conducted by magistrates upon
1049 unanimous consent of the parties, although still requiring the entry of judgment by the trial court. Factual
1050 findings of the jury and the magistrate's interlocutory rulings preceding the entry of judgment, are no longer
1051 required to undergo a cumbersome and expensive procedure for which essentially the first line of appeal
1052 has been to the trial court, rather than directly to a court of appeals.

1053 **RULE 73. Probate Division of the Court of Common Pleas**
1054

1055 **(A) Applicability.** These Rules of Civil Procedure shall apply to proceedings in the
1056 probate division of the court of common pleas as indicated in this rule. Additionally, all of the
1057 Rules of Civil Procedure, though not specifically mentioned in this rule, shall apply except to the
1058 extent that by their nature they would be clearly inapplicable.
1059

1060 **(B) Venue.** Civ. R. ~~3(B)~~ 3(C) shall not apply to proceedings in the probate division of
1061 the court of common pleas, which shall be venued as provided by law. Proceedings under Chapters
1062 2101. through 2131. of the Revised Code, which may be venued in the general division or the
1063 probate division of the court of common pleas, shall be venued in the probate division of the
1064 appropriate court of common pleas.
1065

1066 Proceedings that are improperly venued shall be transferred to a proper venue provided by
1067 law and division (B) of this rule, and the court may assess costs, including reasonable attorney
1068 fees, to the time of transfer against the party who commenced the action in an improper venue.
1069

1070 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

AMENDMENTS TO THE OHIO RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

The following amendments to the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure (3, 4.4, 37, 75, and Amended Civil Forms), the Ohio Rules of Criminal Procedure (1, 3, 7, 11, 13, 31, 33, and 41), the Ohio Rules of Appellate Procedure (4 and 21), and the Ohio Traffic Rules (2, 3, and 13). The history of these amendments is as follows:

September 21, 2020 First publication for public comment (ENDING Nov. 5, 2020)

Key to Adopted Amendments:

1. Unaltered language appears in regular type. Example: text
2. Language that has been deleted appears in strikethrough. Example: ~~text~~
3. New language that has been added appears in underline. Example: text

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE IN OHIO COURTS

Comments requested: The Supreme Court of Ohio will accept public comments until November 6, 2020 on the following proposed amendments to the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure (3, 4.4, 37, 75, and Amended Civil Forms), the Ohio Rules of Criminal Procedure (1, 3, 7, 11, 13, 31, 33, and 41), the Ohio Rules of Appellate Procedure (4 and 21), and the Ohio Traffic Rules (2, 3, and 13). The amended civil forms were enacted as effective on September 21, 2020; however, the Court will still accept public comment on the forms as they can be amended further.

Authority: The proposed amendments are being considered by the Supreme Court pursuant to Article IV, Section 5(B) of the Ohio Constitution, as proposed by the Commission on the Rules of Practice and Procedure in Ohio Courts and pursuant to the document styled “Process for Amending the Rules of Practice and Procedure in Ohio Courts” as set forth on the following page.

Purpose of Publication: The Supreme Court has authorized the publication of the proposed amendments for public comment. The authorization for publication by the Court is neither an endorsement of, nor a declaration of intent to approve the proposed amendments. The purpose of the publication is to invite the judiciary, the practicing bar, and the public at large to provide thoughtful and meaningful feedback on the legal and practical effect of the proposed amendments.

Comment Contact: Comments on the proposed amendments must be submitted in writing to Jesse Mosser, Legislative Counsel, Supreme Court of Ohio, 65 South Front Street, 7th Floor, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3431 or ruleamendments@sc.ohio.gov and received no later than November 5, 2020. Please include your full name and regular mailing address in any comment submitted by e-mail. Copies of all comments submitted will be provided to each member of the Commission on the Rules of Practice and Procedure and each Justice of the Supreme Court.

Comment Deadline: Comments must be submitted no later than November 5, 2020.

Staff Notes: A Staff Note may follow a proposed amendment. Staff Notes are prepared by the Commission on the Rules of Practice and Procedure. Although the Supreme Court uses the Staff Notes during its consideration of proposed amendments, the Staff Notes are not adopted by the Supreme Court and are not a part of the rule. As such, the Staff Notes represent the views of the Commission on the Rules of Practice and Procedure and not necessarily those of the Supreme Court. The Staff Notes are not filed with the General Assembly, but are included when the proposed amendments are published for public comment and are made available to the appropriate committees of the General Assembly.

PROCESS FOR AMENDING THE RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE IN OHIO COURTS

In 1968 the citizens of Ohio approved proposed amendments to Article IV of the Ohio Constitution granting the Supreme Court, among other duties, rule-making authority for the judicial branch of Ohio government. These amendments are widely known as the Modern Courts Amendment.

Pursuant to this rule-making authority, the Supreme Court has created the Commission on the Rules of Practice and Procedure (“Commission”). The Commission consists of nineteen members, including judges as nominated by the six judges’ associations, and members of the practicing bar appointed by the Supreme Court. The Commission reviews and recommends amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rules of Juvenile Procedure, and Rules of Evidence.

In the fall of each year, the Commission submits to the Supreme Court proposed amendments to the rules of practice and procedure that it recommends take effect the following July 1. The Supreme Court then authorizes the publication of the rules for public comment. The authorization by the Court of the publication of the proposed amendments is neither an endorsement of, nor a declaration of, intent to approve the proposed amendments. It is an invitation to the judiciary, the practicing bar, and the public at large to provide thoughtful and meaningful feedback on the legal and practical effect of the proposed amendments. The public comments are reviewed by the Commission which may withdraw, amend, or resubmit all or any provision of the proposed amendments to the Supreme Court. Pursuant to Article IV, Section 5(B) of the Ohio Constitution, if the proposed amendments are to take effect by July 1, the Supreme Court is required to file the proposed amendments with the General Assembly by January 15.

Once the proposed amendments are filed with the General Assembly they are published by the Supreme Court for a second round of public comment. The Court’s authorization of a second round of publication for public comment is neither an endorsement of, nor a declaration of intent to approve the proposed amendments. As with the first round of publication, it is an approval inviting the judiciary, the practicing bar, and the public at large to provide thoughtful and meaningful feedback on the legal and practical effects of the proposed amendments. Once the second round of public comments is ended, the comments are reviewed by the Commission which may withdraw, amend, or resubmit all or any provision of the proposed amendments to the Supreme Court for final consideration.

Pursuant to Article IV, Section 5(B) of the Ohio Constitution, the Supreme Court has until April 30 of each year to accept all or any provision of the proposed amendments, and file with the General Assembly the amendments which the Court approves. The General Assembly has until June 30 to issue a concurrent resolution of disapproval for all or any portion of a proposed amendment the Supreme Court has proposed. If a concurrent resolution of disapproval is not issued by that date, the proposed amendments become effective July 1.

Below is a summary of the proposed amendments. In addition to the substantive amendments, non-substantive grammar and gender-neutral language changes are made throughout any rule that is proposed for amendment.

Summary

1. OHIO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

- Domestic Relations Cases (Civ.R. 3, 4.4, and 75)

The Commission recommends this series of amendments which would conform the Civil Rules with recently-enacted statutory changes. In March 2019, statutory jurisdiction for custody cases was modified for juvenile courts and domestic relations courts. These amendments conform the rule to those changes.

Additionally, some changes were proposed to Civ.R. 75 to update and streamline the rule. These changes include provisions to ensure parties are served notice of hearings and to remove the ability to delay a decree until child support is secured.

- Destruction of Electronic Discovery (Civ.R. 37)

The Commission recommends this amendment to conform Rule 37(E) to match the corresponding federal rule. The current rule requires a trial court to issue a sanction against a party for destruction of electronic discovery, and then inquire into the culpability of the party which destroyed the material. The proposed amendment would require such an inquiry first, then allow the trial court to proscribe an appropriate remedy.

2. OHIO RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE AND OHIO TRAFFIC RULES

- Transferring OVI charges to Common Pleas Court (Crim.R. 1, 3, 7, and 13; Traf.R. 2, 3, and 13)

The Commission proposes this series of amendments on the suggestion of the Ohio Judicial Conference. The scenario this is meant to address is one where a criminal defendant is charged with felonies along with an OVI charge. While the felonies can be easily bound over to common pleas court, some courts have expressed concern that the Multi-Count Uniform Traffic Ticket (“MUTT”) does not meet the definition of “complaint” under Crim.R. 3.

Accordingly, this amendment is intended to make it clear that a charge filed using the MUTT can be accepted by the Common Pleas court should it be bound over. This would eliminate the need to create a separate charging document for the OVI.

- Video Appearance for Pleas and Search Warrants
(Crim.R. 11 and 41)

The Commission proposes these amendments to make clear that defendants and affiants may appear before the court electronically for plea hearings and search warrant applications, respectively. These proposals came about after the Commission reviewed the criminal rules for possible changes in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Commission found that some jurisdictions were uncertain if plea hearings and search warrant applications could be handled by way of video or other electronic means. This amendment would provide clarity in that regard.

- Motion for New Trial
(Crim.R. 33)

The Commission proposes amendments to Crim.R. 33 following the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in *State v. Ramirez*, 2020-Ohio-602. In *Ramirez*, the Court held that while Crim.R. 33 implies the defendant would receive a new trial, a finding of insufficient evidence for a conviction would mean double jeopardy should attach and bar any new trial. As such, the Commission has proposed removing the option to grant a new trial if the evidence is not sufficient to sustain a conviction. The defendant could still raise that same argument by way of Crim.R. 29, and Crim.R. 33 would then follow current case law.

3. OHIO RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE

- "Judgment" Language
(App.R. 4)

The Commission recommends amendments to this rule which would bring it in compliance with recent change to Civ.R. 58 in regards to the use of the term "judgment."

- Audio Recording of Oral Arguments
(App.R. 21)

The Commission proposes this amendment which would require an appellate court to maintain an audio recording or video recording of any oral argument on a case. This proposal was made by a member of the public, and the Commission learned that it is common practice in some appellate districts but not all. Under this proposal, the recording would be made available to the public on request.

6. UNIFORM DOMESTIC RELATIONS AND JUVENILE FORMS

- Redesign

The Commission recommended, and the Court enacted, the amendment of several form in the Uniform Domestic Relations and Juvenile Forms.

1 **OHIO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

2
3 **RULE 3. Commencement of Action; Venue**

4
5 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

6
7 **(C) Venue: where proper.** Any action may be venued, commenced, and decided in
8 any court in any county. When applied to county and municipal courts, “county,” as used in this
9 rule, shall be construed, where appropriate, as the territorial limits of those courts. Proper venue
10 lies in any one or more of the following counties:

11
12 (1) The county in which the defendant resides;

13
14 (2) The county in which the defendant has his or her principal place of business;

15
16 (3) A county in which the defendant conducted activity that gave rise to the claim for
17 relief;

18
19 (4) A county in which a public officer maintains his or her principal office if suit is
20 brought against the officer in the officer’s official capacity;

21
22 (5) A county in which the property, or any part of the property, is situated if the subject
23 of the action is real property or tangible personal property;

24
25 (6) The county in which all or part of the claim for relief arose; or, if the claim for relief
26 arose upon a river, other watercourse, or a road, that is the boundary of the state, or of two or more
27 counties, in any county bordering on the river, watercourse, or road, and opposite to the place
28 where the claim for relief arose;

29
30 (7) In actions described in Civ.R. 4.3, in the county where plaintiff resides;

31
32 (8) In an action against an executor, administrator, guardian, or trustee, in the county
33 in which the executor, administrator, guardian, or trustee was appointed;

34
35 (9) In actions for divorce, annulment, or legal separation, in the county in which the
36 plaintiff is and has been a resident for at least ninety days immediately preceding the filing of the
37 complaint;

38
39 (10) In domestic relations actions pertaining to the care, custody, control, and support of
40 a child not otherwise described in (C)(9), in the county of the child’s residence or where the child
41 was last known to reside;

42
43 (11) In actions for a civil protection order, in the county in which the petitioner currently
44 or temporarily resides;

45

46 ~~(11)~~(12) In tort actions involving asbestos claims, silicosis claims, or mixed dust
47 disease claims, only in the county in which all of the exposed plaintiffs reside, a county where all
48 of the exposed plaintiffs were exposed to asbestos, silica, or mixed dust, or the county in which
49 the defendant has his or her principal place of business.

50
51 ~~(12)~~(13) If there is no available forum in divisions (C)(1) to (C)~~(10)~~(11) of this rule,
52 in the county in which plaintiff resides, has his or her principal place of business, or regularly and
53 systematically conducts business activity;

54
55 ~~(13)~~(14) If there is no available forum in divisions (C)(1) to (C)~~(11)~~(12) of this rule:

56
57 (a) In a county in which defendant has property or debts owing to the defendant subject
58 to attachment or garnishment;

59
60 (b) In a county in which defendant has appointed an agent to receive service of process
61 or in which an agent has been appointed by operation of law.

62
63 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

64
65 **(I) Definitions.** As used in division (C)~~(11)~~(12) of this rule:

66
67 (1) “Asbestos claim” has the same meaning as in section 2307.91 of the Revised Code;

68
69 (2) “Silicosis claim” and “mixed dust disease claim” have the same meaning as in
70 section 2307.84 of the Revised Code;

71
72 (3) In reference to an asbestos claim, “tort action” has the same meaning as in section
73 2307.91 of the Revised Code;

74
75 (4) In reference to a silicosis claim or a mixed dust disease claim, “tort action” has the
76 same meaning as in section 2307.84 of the Revised Code.

77
78 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

79

80 **RULE 4.4. Process: Service by Publication**

81
82 **(A) Residence unknown.**

83
84 **(1) Service by Publication in a Newspaper.** Except in an action or proceeding
85 governed by division (A)(2) of this rule, when service of process is required upon a party whose
86 residence is unknown, service shall be made by publication in actions where such service is
87 authorized by law. Before service by publication can be made, an affidavit of the party requesting
88 service or that party's counsel shall be filed with the court. The affidavit shall aver that service of
89 summons cannot be made because the residence of the party to be served is unknown to the affiant,
90 all of the efforts made on behalf of the party to ascertain the residence of the party to be served,
91 and that the residence of the party to be served cannot be ascertained with reasonable diligence.

92
93 Upon the filing of the affidavit, the clerk shall cause service of notice to be made by
94 publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the action or proceeding
95 is filed. If no newspaper is published in that county, then publication shall be in a newspaper
96 published in an adjoining county. The publication shall contain the name and address of the court,
97 the case number, the name of the first party on each side, and the name and last known address, if
98 any, of the person or persons whose residence is unknown. The publication also shall contain a
99 summary statement of the object of the pleading or other document seeking relief against a party
100 whose residence is unknown, and a summary statement of the demand for relief, and shall notify
101 the party to be served that such party is required to answer or respond either within twenty-eight
102 days after the publication or at such other time after the publication that is set as the time to appear
103 or within which to respond after service of such pleading or other document. The publication shall
104 be published at least once a week for six successive weeks unless publication for a lesser number
105 of weeks is specifically provided by law. Service of process shall be deemed complete at the date
106 of the last publication.

107
108 After the last publication, the publisher or its agent shall file with the court an affidavit
109 showing the fact of publication together with a copy of the notice of publication. The affidavit and
110 copy of the notice shall constitute proof of service of process.

111
112 **(2) Service by Publication by Posting and Mail.**

113
114 **(a) Actions and Proceedings other than Civil Protection Order Proceedings.** In
115 divorce, annulment, or legal separation actions, and in actions pertaining to the care, custody, ~~and~~
116 control, and support of children ~~whose parents are not married~~, and in all post-decree proceedings:

- 117
118 (i) if the residence of the party upon whom service is sought is unknown; and,
119
120 (ii) if the matter is not governed by Civ. R. 65.1; and,
121
122 (iii) if the party requesting service upon another party is proceeding with a poverty
123 affidavit;

124
125

126
127 service by publication shall be made by posting and mail. Before service by posting and mail can
128 be made under this division (A)(2)(a), an affidavit of the party requesting service or that party's
129 counsel shall be filed with the court. The affidavit shall contain the same averments required by
130 division (A)(1) of this rule and, in addition, shall set forth the defendant's last known address.

131
132 Upon the filing of the affidavit, the clerk shall cause service of notice to be made by posting
133 in a conspicuous place in the courthouse or courthouses in which the general and domestic relations
134 divisions of the court of common pleas for the county are located and in two additional public
135 places in the county that have been designated by local rule for the posting of notices pursuant to
136 this rule. Alternatively, the postings, except for protection orders issued pursuant to Civ.R. 65.1,
137 under this division (A)(2)(a), may be made on the website of the clerk of courts, if available, in a
138 section designated for such purpose. The notice shall contain the same information required by
139 division (A)(1) of this rule to be contained in a newspaper publication. The notice shall be posted
140 for six successive weeks.

141
142 **(b) Civil Protection Order Proceedings.** In civil protection order proceedings where
143 the party's residence upon whom service is sought is unknown, service may be made by posting
144 and mail without the necessity of a poverty affidavit. Before service by posting and mail can be
145 made under this division (A)(2)(b), an affidavit of the party requesting service or that party's
146 counsel shall be filed with the court. The affidavit shall contain the same averments required by
147 division (A)(1) of this rule and, in addition, shall set forth the last known address of the party to
148 be served.

149
150 Upon the filing of the affidavit, the clerk shall cause service of notice to be made by posting
151 in a conspicuous place in the courthouse or courthouses within the county where Civ.R. 65.1
152 civil protection order proceedings may be filed and in two additional public places in the county
153 that have been designated by local rule for the posting of notices pursuant to this rule. The
154 postings under this division (A)(2)(b) shall not be made on the website of the clerk of courts.
155 The notice shall contain the same information required by division (A)(1) of this rule to be
156 contained in a newspaper publication. The notice shall be posted for six successive weeks.

157
158 **(c) Additional Requirement for Mailing.** When service by publication is sought by
159 posting and mail under either division (A)(2)(a) or division (A)(2)(b) of this rule, the clerk shall
160 also cause the documents for service to be mailed by United States ordinary mail, address
161 correction requested, to the last known address of the party to be served. The clerk shall obtain a
162 certificate of mailing from the United States Postal Service. If the clerk is notified of a corrected
163 or forwarding address of the party to be served within the six-week period that notice is posted
164 pursuant to division (A)(2)(a) or division (A)(2)(b) of this rule, the clerk shall cause the
165 documents for service to be mailed to the corrected or forwarding address. The clerk shall note
166 the name, address, and date of each mailing on the docket.

167
168 **(d) Docket Entry of Posting; Completion of Service.** After the last week of posting
169 under either division (A)(2)(a) or division (A)(2)(b) of this rule, the clerk shall note on the docket
170 where and when notice was posted. Service shall be complete upon the entry of posting.

171
172 **[Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]**

173 **RULE 37. Failure to Make Discovery: Sanctions**

174 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

175
176
177 **(E) Failure to provide electronically stored information.**

178
179 ~~Absent exceptional circumstances, a court may not impose sanctions under these rules on~~
180 ~~a party for failing to provide electronically stored information lost as a result of the routine, good-~~
181 ~~faith operation of an electronic information system. The court may consider the following factors~~
182 ~~in determining whether to impose sanctions under this division:~~

183
184 (1) ~~Whether and when any obligation to preserve the information was triggered;~~

185
186 (2) ~~Whether the information was lost as a result of the routine alteration or deletion of~~
187 ~~information that attends the ordinary use of the system in issue;~~

188
189 (3) ~~Whether the party intervened in a timely fashion to prevent the loss of information;~~

190
191 (4) ~~Any steps taken to comply with any court order or party agreement requiring~~
192 ~~preservation of specific information;~~

193
194 (5) ~~Any other facts relevant to its determination under this division.~~

195
196 If electronically stored information that should have been preserved in the anticipation or
197 conduct of litigation is lost because a party failed to take reasonable steps to preserve it, and it
198 cannot be restored or replaced through additional discovery, the court:

199
200 (1) upon finding prejudice to another party from loss of the information, may order
201 measures no greater than necessary to cure the prejudice; or

202
203 (2) only upon finding that the party acted with the intent to deprive another party of the
204 information's use in the litigation may:

205
206 (a) presume that the lost information was unfavorable to the party;

207
208 (b) instruct the jury that it may or must presume the information was
209 unfavorable to the party; or

210
211 (c) dismiss the action or enter a default judgment.

212
213 [Existing language unaffected by the amendments is omitted to conserve space]

214

215
216 **RULE 75. ~~Divorce, Annulment, and Legal Separation~~ Actions in Domestic**
217 **Relations Court**

218
219 (A) **Applicability.** The Rules of Civil Procedure shall apply in domestic relations
220 court actions for divorce, annulment, or legal separation; actions pertaining to the care, custody,
221 control, and support of a child; and related proceedings, with the modifications or exceptions set
222 forth in this rule.

223
224 (B) **Joinder of parties.** Civ.R. 14, 19, 19.1, and 24 shall not apply in ~~divorce,~~
225 ~~annulment, or legal separation actions,~~ proceedings described in section (A) of this rule,
226 however:

227
228 (1) A person or corporation having possession of, control of, or claiming an interest
229 in property, whether real, personal, or mixed, out of which a party seeks a division of marital
230 property, a distributive award, or an award of spousal support or other support, may be made a
231 party defendant;

232
233 (2) When it is essential to protect the interests of a child, the court may join the child
234 of the parties as a party defendant and appoint a guardian ad litem ~~and~~ and/or legal counsel, if
235 necessary, for the child and tax the costs;

236
237 (3) The court may make any person or agency claiming to have an interest in or rights
238 to a child by rule or statute, including but not limited to R.C. 3109.04 and R.C. 3109.051, a party
239 defendant;

240
241 (4) When child support is ordered, the court, on its own motion or that of an
242 interested person, after notice to the party ordered to pay child support and to his or her
243 employer, may make the employer a party defendant.

244
245 (C) **~~Trial by court~~ Judge or magistrate.** ~~In proceedings under this rule there shall be~~
246 ~~no right to trial by jury.~~ All issues may be heard either by the ~~court~~ judge or by a magistrate as the
247 court on the request of any party or on its own motion, may direct. Civ. R. 53 shall apply to all
248 cases or issues directed to be heard by a magistrate. In proceedings under this rule there shall be
249 no right to trial by jury.

250
251 (D) **Investigation.** ~~On~~ Upon the filing of a complaint ~~or motion for divorce, annulment,~~
252 ~~or legal separation,~~ where a minor child is ~~minor children are~~ involved, ~~or on the filing of a motion~~
253 ~~for the modification of a decree allocating parental rights and responsibilities for the care of~~
254 ~~children,~~ the court may cause an investigation to be made as to the character, family relations, past
255 conduct, earning ability, and ~~financial worth~~ finances of the parties to the action. The report of the
256 investigation shall be made available to either party or their counsel of record ~~upon written request~~
257 not less than seven days before trial. The report shall be signed by the investigator and the
258 investigator shall be subject to cross-examination by either party concerning the contents of the
259 report. The court may tax as costs all or any part of the expenses for each investigation.

260

261 (E) **Subpoena where custody involved.** In any case involving the allocation of
262 parental rights and responsibilities for the care of ~~children~~ a child, the court, on its own motion,
263 may cite a party to the action from any point within the state to appear in court and testify.
264

265 (F) **Judgment.** The provisions of Civ.R. 55 shall not apply in ~~actions for divorce,~~
266 ~~annulment, legal separation,~~ proceedings described in section (A) of this rule or actions for civil
267 protection orders. For purposes of Civ.R. 54(B), the court shall not enter final judgment as to a
268 claim for divorce, dissolution of marriage, annulment, or legal separation unless one of the
269 following applies:
270

271 (1) The judgment also divides the property of the parties, determines the
272 appropriateness of an order of spousal support, and, where applicable, either allocates parental
273 rights and responsibilities, including payment of child support, between the parties or orders shared
274 parenting of a minor ~~children~~ child;
275

276 (2) Issues of property division, spousal support, and allocation of parental rights and
277 responsibilities or shared parenting have been finally determined in orders, previously entered by
278 the court, that are incorporated into the judgment;
279

280 (3) The court includes in the judgment the express determination required by Civ.R.
281 54(B) and a final determination that either of the following applies:
282

283 (a) The court lacks jurisdiction to determine such issues;
284

285 (b) In a legal separation action, the division of the property of the parties would
286 be inappropriate at that time.
287

288 (G) **Civil protection order.** A claim for a civil protection order based upon an
289 allegation of domestic violence shall be a separate claim from a claim ~~for divorce, dissolution of~~
290 ~~marriage, annulment, or legal separation~~ in any proceeding described in section (A) of this rule or
291 a dissolution of marriage.
292

293 (H) **Relief pending appeal.**
294

295 (1) Civ.R. 62(B) does not apply to orders allocating parental rights and responsibilities
296 or to orders of support.
297

298 (2) During the time that a notice of appeal may be or has been filed in a proceeding
299 described in section (A) of this rule, a ~~A~~ motion to modify, pending appeal, either a decree a final
300 order allocating parental rights and responsibilities ~~for the care of children, a spousal~~ or an order
301 of other support order, shall be made to the trial court ~~in the first instance, whether made before or~~
302 ~~after a notice of appeal is filed.~~ The trial court may grant relief upon terms as to bond or otherwise
303 as it considers proper for the security of the rights of the adverse party and in the best interests of
304 the ~~children~~ child involved. ~~Civ. R. 62(B) does not apply to orders allocating parental rights and~~
305 ~~responsibilities for the care of children or a spousal or other support order.~~ An order entered upon
306 motion under this rule may be vacated or modified by the appellate court. The appellate court has

307 authority to enter like orders pending appeal, but an application to the appellate court for relief
308 shall disclose what has occurred in the trial court regarding the relief.

309
310 **(I) Temporary restraining orders.**

311
312 (1) ~~Restraining order: exclusion.~~ The provisions of Civ. R. 65(A) shall not apply in
313 ~~divorce, annulment, or legal separation actions~~ proceedings described in section (A) of this rule.

314
315 (2) ~~Restraining order: grounds, procedure.~~ The court, on its own motion or pursuant
316 to local court rule, may issue a restraining order without notice, and the order shall remain in force
317 during the pendency of the action unless the court otherwise orders.

318
319 (3) ~~When it is made to appear to the court by affidavit of a party sworn to absolutely~~
320 Upon sworn affidavit that a party is about to dispose of or encumber property, or any part thereof
321 of property, so as to defeat another party in obtaining an equitable division of marital property, a
322 distributive award, or spousal or other support, or that a party to the action or a child of any party
323 is about to suffer physical abuse, annoyance, or bodily injury by the other party, or if a party is
324 about to remove a child from the jurisdiction of the court, the court may allow a temporary
325 restraining order, with or without bond, to prevent that action or to otherwise prevent injury, loss,
326 or damage. A temporary restraining order may be issued without notice and shall remain in force
327 during the pendency of the action unless the court or magistrate otherwise orders.

328
329 **(J) Continuing jurisdiction.** The continuing jurisdiction of the court shall be invoked
330 by motion filed in the original action, notice of which shall be served in the manner provided for
331 the service of process under Civ. R. 4 to 4.6. When the continuing jurisdiction of the court is
332 invoked pursuant to this division, the discovery procedures set forth in Civ. R. 26 to 37 shall apply.

333
334 **(K) Hearing.** No action for divorce, annulment, or legal separation may be heard and
335 decided until the expiration of forty-two days after the service of process or twenty-eight days after
336 the last publication of notice of the complaint, and no action for divorce, annulment, or legal
337 separation shall be heard and decided earlier than twenty-eight days after the service of a
338 counterclaim, which under this rule may be designated a cross-complaint, unless the plaintiff files
339 a written waiver of the twenty-eight day period.

340
341 **(L) Notice of trial.** In all cases ~~where there is no counsel of record for the adverse~~
342 ~~party,~~ the court shall give the ~~adverse party~~ all parties notice of the trial upon the merits. The
343 notice shall be made either by regular ordinary mail to the party's last known address or hand-
344 delivered to the party by the court, and shall be mailed at least seven days prior to the
345 commencement of trial.

346
347 **(M) Testimony Grounds.** ~~Judgment~~ Testimony of a party in support of grounds for
348 divorce, annulment, or legal separation shall not be granted upon the testimony or admission of a
349 party not must be supported by other credible evidence. No admission shall be received that the
350 court has reason to believe was obtained by fraud, connivance, coercion, or other improper means.
351 The parties, notwithstanding their marital relations, shall be competent to testify in the proceeding
352 to the same extent as other witnesses.

353
354 (N) **Temporary Orders of spousal support, child support, and custody.**
355

356 (1) When requested in the complaint, answer, or counterclaim, or by motion served
357 ~~with the pleading,~~ upon satisfactory proof by affidavit duly filed with the clerk of the court, the
358 court ~~or magistrate,~~ without oral hearing and for good cause shown, may ~~grant a issue~~ temporary
359 ~~order orders~~ regarding spousal support to either of the parties for the party's sustenance and
360 expenses during the suit and may make a temporary order regarding the support, maintenance, and
361 allocation of parental rights and responsibilities for the care of children of the marriage, whether
362 natural or adopted, during the pendency of the action for divorce, annulment, or legal separation.
363

364 (2) The court may issue orders allocating parental rights and responsibilities after
365 consideration of the parties' parenting practices provided that such practices are within the best
366 interest of the child. The court may allocate such rights and responsibilities to either or both parents
367 and issue related orders regarding parenting time. The court shall not adopt a parent's proposed
368 shared parenting plan as a temporary order.
369

370 (3) The court may issue orders for child support, expenses, or for other such matters as
371 the court determines to be equitable to the parties and in the best interest of the child.
372

373 (4) The court may issue orders for spousal support for either of the parties for the
374 party's sustenance and expenses or for other such orders as the court deems reasonable during the
375 pendency of an action for divorce, annulment, or legal separation.
376

377
378 (5) Counter affidavits may be filed by the other party:
379

380 (a) within ~~fourteen~~ twenty-eight days from the service of the request for temporary
381 orders served with the complaint; or,
382

383 (b) within fourteen days from the service of such request, whichever is later.
384 answer, counterclaim, or motion, all affidavits to be used by the court or
385 magistrate in making a temporary spousal support order, child support order,
386 and order allocating parental rights and responsibilities for the care of children.
387 Upon request, in writing, after any temporary spousal support, child support, or
388 order allocating parental rights and responsibilities for the care of children is
389 journalized, the court shall grant the party so requesting an oral hearing within
390 twenty-eight days to modify the temporary order. A request for oral hearing
391 shall not suspend or delay the commencement of spousal support or other
392 support payments previously ordered or change the allocation of parental rights
393 and responsibilities until the order is modified by journal entry after the oral
394 hearing.
395

396 (6) Courts may request and consider supplemental affidavits from both parties
397 concerning any temporary orders to be made. Courts may require supplemental affidavits prior to

398 considering any initial request for temporary orders or to supplement the record prior to an oral
399 hearing.

400 (7) If a temporary order is issued upon affidavits, upon written request of either party
401 the court shall hold an oral hearing within twenty-eight days. A request for oral hearing shall not
402 suspend or delay the commencement of support payments or change the allocation of parental
403 rights and responsibilities until further order of the court.

404 (8) A temporary order creates no presumption of law or fact that constrains the court's
405 determination of its final judgment.

406
407 ~~(O) — **Delay of decree.** When a party who is entitled to a decree of divorce or annulment~~
408 ~~is ordered to pay spousal support or child support for a child not in his or her custody, or to deliver~~
409 ~~a child to the party to whom parental rights and responsibilities for the care of the child are~~
410 ~~allocated, the court may delay entering a decree for divorce or annulment until the party, to the~~
411 ~~satisfaction of the court, secures the payment of the spousal support or the child support for the~~
412 ~~child, or delivers custody of the child to the party to whom parental rights and responsibilities are~~
413 ~~allocated.~~